
44th PARLIAMENT, 1st SESSION

Standing Committee on
Environment and Sustainable

Development
EVIDENCE

NUMBER 130
Monday, November 4, 2024

Chair: Mr. Francis Scarpaleggia





1

Standing Committee on Environment and Sustainable Development

Monday, November 4, 2024

● (1100)

[Translation]
The Chair (Mr. Francis Scarpaleggia (Lac-Saint-Louis,

Lib.)): Good afternoon, colleagues.

I would like to welcome the witnesses, as well as Ms. Lewis,
who is replacing Mr. Kram today.

I've just been informed that the sound checks have been done. It's
all good. So we're ready to begin.

In the first hour of the meeting, we have three witnesses. As indi‐
viduals, we have Hugues Chenet, associate professor at the IESEG
School of Management, and Bryce C. Tingle, K.C., N. Murray Ed‐
wards chair in business law at the University of Calgary Faculty of
Law. From Chartered Professional Accountants of Canada, we have
Rosemary McGuire, vice-president.

Each of the witnesses will have five minutes for their presenta‐
tion. Afterwards, we will proceed with the question and answer pe‐
riod.

We'll start with Professor Chenet.
Mr. Hugues Chenet (Associate Professor, IESEG School of

Management, As an Individual): Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Ladies and gentlemen of the committee, by way of introduction,
I would first like to say a few words about the journey that led me
to make this presentation today.

First of all, my background is in geoscience. I started out as a
geophysicist, but I became a financial consultant after that, just be‐
fore the 2007 financial crisis. I began wearing two hats, one with a
quantitative aspect, since it involves market risk modelling, and the
other relating to environmental or climate risks in finance. At the
time, those risks were not taken into account, but we'll come back
to that.

In 2012, I co-founded a finance and climate think tank, which
has had some influence on regulatory mechanisms in France and
then in Europe, particularly in the lead-up to COP21.

Finally, for the past eight years or so, I've been completely fo‐
cused on the academic side of things. I'm a transdisciplinary re‐
searcher in management science, economics, finance, a bit of ac‐
counting, as well as geoscience and environmental sciences.

I want to start with a positive to frame some of the things I want
to talk about with you today. In terms of climate issues and, more
recently, biodiversity, finance has more broadly made a lot of

progress, because it started from a very long way away, which is a
little less positive. I think it's worth revisiting that a bit.

When I started working in finance some 15 years ago, the major
financing and investment banks, particularly those that were a little
further ahead on environmental issues, were very proud to commu‐
nicate their response to global warming. One of the biggest things
they did was change the light bulbs in their offices. It's a bit disap‐
pointing when you get into the financial sector and find that out. In
the end, there was virtually no connection between their vocation or
their real mission, which is to finance the economy and industry,
and climate. So not much was happening and very little was being
shared.

What about fossil fuels and renewable energy? There was no
comment. Basically, the big answer to the questions we could ask
them at the time was that they were just bankers or investors and
that people should look to their clients instead. So they had no real
sense of responsibility for activities that may have an impact on cli‐
mate change.

Today, obviously, that has changed a lot. You know the situation
as well as I do; we can come back to it. In spite of everything, it's
been a resounding success. They have made a lot of progress, but
perhaps we need to qualify this positive point. If we look at the
economy in its current state and the progress made on climate and
the emissions trajectory, we can see that finance—if you'll pardon
the expression—is not delivering the goods. We don't have what we
should expect to have, which is portfolios that are decarbonizing.
Portfolios fund the real economy—at least they're supposed to—but
the real economy is still just as carbon intensive. We're still emit‐
ting as much carbon and greenhouse gases from year to year. Yes,
we've stopped emissions from increasing, but we're still emitting
and we've yet to hit the peak.

In short, finance hasn't been able to do this on its own. That may
be the problem, meaning that it may not be up to finance to do the
work. That could be worth discussing. It's exactly the same thing
for biodiversity. In a way, finance may not be designed to decar‐
bonize the economy.

I often quote a well-known financial mathematics professor in
France, Nicolas Bouleau, who has written in a number of publica‐
tions that financial markets were not designed to manage the planet.
It's very important to remember that. That's not at all what they
were designed for. So if we expect them to do something other than
what they were designed for, their ability to do it may be called into
question.
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In addition, the conditions don't seem to be right for finance to
spontaneously take on this decarbonization effort. Typically, if an
activity remains legal and, in addition, it's profitable, even very
profitable, it's virtually impossible for the vast majority of financial
institutions to abandon that type of activity. Most of the time, they
themselves feel that stopping that type of activity would be like
pulling the rug out from under themselves.

In my opinion, then, either we have to change the tool, or we
have to change the rules for using the tool. In other words, either
we don't rely, or rely much less, on finance to decarbonize the econ‐
omy, and instead look to industrial policy to shift demand—financ‐
ing is very likely, I think, to adapt—or we change the fundamental
rules of finance so that it can be effective and really play a leader‐
ship role in this decarbonization operation.
● (1105)

However, something else has happened instead. People were
mainly banking on the fact that, by taking on significant financial
risk related to climate change, or even systemic risk in the more or
less distant future, the financial world would steer clear of those
risks through its investment and funding decisions. We relied essen‐
tially on transparency and disclosure of financial risk that isn't con‐
sidered material enough right now. There's not much going on.

The Chair: Thank you, Professor Chenet.

Unfortunately, I have to interrupt you, but you'll have the oppor‐
tunity to share your point of view as you respond to the questions
you will be asked.

We'll now go to Mr. Tingle.

Mr. Tingle, you have the floor.
[English]

Mr. Bryce C. Tingle (N. Murray Edwards Chair in Business
Law, Faculty of Law, University of Calgary, As an Individual):
Thank you very much for the opportunity to appear before the com‐
mittee.

My name is Bryce Tingle. I'm the N. Murray Edwards chair in
business law at the University of Calgary's faculty of law. My re‐
search and writing are largely in the area of corporate governance.
I'm a member of the Alberta Securities Commission and of the na‐
tional special advisory board to the RCMP's integrated market en‐
forcement teams, which investigate financial crimes. I sit on nu‐
merous boards and I've spent my career advising boards, investors
and managers on issues relating to corporate governance.

All opinions are my own and should not be attributed to any in‐
stitution that I'm part of.

I'm appearing before you as someone who has spent his profes‐
sional life working in and studying corporate governance and cor‐
porate finance.

For the record, I accept the consensus about the science of global
warming contained in the most recent reports from the United Na‐
tions' Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change.

The bottom line from all my research is that there are thousands
of empirical studies, and these studies generally show that corpo‐

rate governance interventions of the sort produced by the financial
markets do not produce their intended outcomes. This includes the
long-time goals of corporate governance of producing better finan‐
cial returns for investors and reducing executive pay.

The failures of corporate governance as a channel for producing
desired outcomes are a function of, first, the fact that corporations
are generally embedded in competitive markets and that these mar‐
kets constrain the range of behaviours a corporation can undertake
if it wishes to remain solvent. The average company doesn't make
much over its total expenses.

Second, markets produce incentive structures for managers and
shareholders, and these systems of incentives militate against cer‐
tain desired non-financial outcomes.

Third, corporations, their people, strategies, research programs,
opportunities, business partners and competitive situations all vary
so much that one-size-fits-all interventions affect them in different
and unexpected ways and occasionally in counterproductive ways.

Fourth, the most prominent tools used by corporate governance
reformers—disclosure requirements and investor pressure—are not
suited to the task, for various reasons.

Given the limited amount of time I have, I'll talk about three ex‐
amples of governance failures that are relevant to ESG.

The first is disclosure. Most investors do not have the knowledge
or the incentives to read or accurately process most of the disclo‐
sure we provide, and this is particularly true of rather complex en‐
vironmental disclosure. As a result, investors tend to rely on third
parties to produce ESG ratings or rankings. There are over a dozen
empirical studies that find these ratings are invalid.

Different ESG companies rate the same company in very differ‐
ent ways. The disagreements among these companies about the en‐
vironmental merits of companies appear to be increasing over time.
There are several studies that show that ESG ratings are very poor
predictors of future environmental or social performance.

Studies also show that disclosure discourages innovation, since it
provides competitors with the ability to replicate successful initia‐
tives and avoid failures. As a result, companies stop innovating.
They will wait for others in a version of the free rider problem. Dis‐
closure requirements also cause companies to behave defensively in
an area. ESG activities, if required to be disclosed, can become less
ambitious in order to avoid lawsuits or subsequent criticisms for
failures.
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A second example is financial divestment, which doesn't work.
The value of a company's shares is a function of the company's fu‐
ture cash flows. For this reason, divestment does not affect share
value. We know this from multiple studies. Several studies find no
evidence of the cost of capital increasing for bad ESG performers.
There's also no sign, at least in public markets, of lower costs of
capital for good ESG companies.

Another problem is that divestment is too crude. A recent study
found that the majority of environmental progressive green patents
are produced by low-ESG-rated companies. Usually these are old-
economy energy companies. This is particularly true of blockbuster
environmental patents that are cited by many other patents. The re‐
searchers note that this research and development is being per‐
formed by companies that are actually excluded from ESG portfo‐
lios.

The third example I'll give is about the nature of investors. They
don't focus on ESG. Investor behaviour is produced by strong fi‐
nancial incentives to keep their costs low and to maximize fund re‐
turns. ESG investors in companies with ESG profiles are generally
no better off than non-ESG investors. Some studies find that ESG-
branded funds hold worse-performing companies. Studies that look
at what happens when an ESG fund buys a stake in a company find
no sign of improvement in that company's environmental or social
performance.

My time is up.
● (1110)

I will answer any of your questions when the time comes.
The Chair: Thank you very much, Mr. Tingle.

We'll go now to the Chartered Professional Accountants of
Canada.

Ms. McGuire, you have five minutes.
Ms. Rosemary McGuire (Vice-President of Member Experi‐

ence, Chartered Professional Accountants of Canada): Thank
you, Mr. Chair and members of the committee.

I am Rosemary McGuire, vice-president of member experience
at Chartered Professional Accountants of Canada, known as CPA
Canada. I oversee the research team focused on emerging issues in
the accounting profession and capital markets. A key area of focus
for us is the growing need to account for environmental impacts
and for increased transparency around climate-related risks and op‐
portunities.

CPA Canada is one of the most influential accounting organiza‐
tions in the world. CPA Canada also supports the independent
structure of accounting, assurance and sustainability standard-set‐
ting in Canada. We have been actively involved in the challenges of
climate change for more than three decades, and we are currently
an active member of the IFRS Foundation's partnership for capacity
building, helping to develop resources to implement international
sustainability disclosure standards in Canada and globally.

In my brief remarks, I will address three main points: the evolv‐
ing expectations around sustainability issues, the importance of

standards and third party assurance, and the need for a harmonized
approach and policy certainty.

Sustainability is becoming increasingly important for investors
and providers of capital. A report by the Bank of Canada and the
Office of the Superintendent of Financial Institutions noted that the
transition to a low-carbon economy will create opportunities for in‐
novation, investment and potential green growth, but this transition
may also lead to economic dislocation and a reassessment of the
value of various financial assets.

Confidence in the quality of information is crucial for the integri‐
ty of our financial system and efficient capital markets. This need
extends beyond financial information to include ESG factors, yet
this demand for more transparency is leading to a trust deficit.
PwC's 2023 global investor survey found that three-quarters of in‐
vestors and analysts consider how sustainability is managed to be
important to their investment decisions, yet 94% believe that sus‐
tainability reporting includes unsupported claims.

That brings me to my second point: the importance of sustain‐
ability standards and third party assurance.

We are seeing a push toward a global system for sustainability-
related reporting. This began with the creation of the International
Sustainability Standards Board, or the ISSB, which aims to develop
a global baseline of sustainability disclosure standards for capital
markets. The ISSB released its inaugural standards last year, cover‐
ing general sustainability disclosure requirements and climate-relat‐
ed disclosures. The Canadian Sustainability Standards Board was
created shortly thereafter and is expected to finalize standards be‐
fore the end of the year, tailoring them for the Canadian market‐
place.

These new standards aim for better disclosure, not just more of
it. The climate disclosure standard will require companies to report
on their targets and net-zero commitments, along with information
on the anticipated financial impacts.

Materiality is a critical concept in these standards. It recognizes
that different sustainability issues affect various industries in
unique ways.

Another important concept is proportionality, which allows for
adjustments based on the capabilities and circumstances of different
companies, and this is vital for the Canadian market, given the
large proportion of small and medium-sized entities.

Assurance plays a vital role in enhancing the reliability of ESG
and climate-related information. The processes involved are similar
to the audits that professional accountants have been conducting for
decades.
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Sustainability regulation in Canada is evolving rapidly, but con‐
cerns have been raised about multiple similar proposals being intro‐
duced at the same time. These include securities regulation, the
Competition Bureau's new anti-greenwashing legislation, OSFI's
guideline on climate risk management, the proposed sustainable fi‐
nance taxonomy and new federal initiatives.

This may lead to a potentially unnecessary regulatory burden for
Canadian companies facing oversight by multiple regulators. There
is a need for a harmonized approach.

Education and capacity building are also essential. Standards and
regulations that aren't well understood or properly applied won't be
very effective.

I have only just skimmed the surface of this very complex and
evolving subject, but I would be pleased to elaborate and I look for‐
ward to your questions.

Thank you.
● (1115)

The Chair: Thank you, Ms. McGuire.

We'll go to questions now, and it's Mr. Mazier who will lead off
for six minutes.

Mr. Dan Mazier (Dauphin—Swan River—Neepawa, CPC):
Thank you, Chair.

Thank you to the witnesses for coming here today.

Mr. Tingle, I'll start off with you. Is there any evidence that ESG-
branded investment funds hold more environmentally and socially
responsible companies in their portfolios than conventional invest‐
ment funds do?

Mr. Bryce C. Tingle: There isn't much evidence of this. The Se‐
curities and Exchange Commission in the United States has been
levying significant fines to a number of ESG funds that it discov‐
ered had marketed themselves as ESG funds but didn't actually
make share buying and selling decisions on the basis of the ESG
performance of the companies.

I think there are at least half a dozen academic studies that tend
to suggest that there's no difference between the ESG quality of the
companies in ESG funds and the quality of companies in non-ESG-
branded funds. There have been at least three studies published in
peer-reviewed papers that find the performers in ESG funds are ac‐
tually worse.
● (1120)

Mr. Dan Mazier: Do you believe that ESG ratings and climate-
related disclosure statements are a scam?

Mr. Bryce C. Tingle: There's no question that ESG has been a
very powerful marketing tool for the last 10 years. Money has
flowed into funds that have advertised their ESG focus, as well as
funds that don't compete for money, such as public pension funds
and union funds. Those funds have political masters who are very
concerned about ESG, so those funds tend to do a lot to advertise
their ESG credentials.

What we've seen is that these funds don't reliably hold better
ESG performers. If they do anything, they apply very crude screens

that just block one or two industries, such as automotive or oil and
gas. That's about the limit. They rely on these heavily flawed ESG
ratings I was talking about in my remarks.

When we study what the companies actually do, we find no sign
that those companies' ESG performance is improving, so it looks
like this is mostly a marketing initiative on the part of the financial
industry.

Mr. Dan Mazier: There's a lot of concern that a lot of companies
won't go public if they're forced to produce climate-related disclo‐
sure statements. Is this true, and what are the consequences of this?

Mr. Bryce C. Tingle: What originally got me interested in our
corporate governance regime is the fact that Canadian public mar‐
kets are declining quite seriously. Canada had, about 15 or 18 years
ago, something like 1,400 or 1,500 public companies. It now has
fewer than 700 operating companies. Similar declines are visible in
other markets, and—

Ms. Laurel Collins (Victoria, NDP): I have a point of order,
Mr. Chair.

I'm so sorry to interrupt. There's a microphone on in the room, so
there's an echo.

The Chair: I'm sorry. I'm going to stop. Is there a microphone
on in the room?

Try again, Mr. Tingle.

Mr. Bryce C. Tingle: That's not a problem. I can hear the echo
as well, for what it's worth.

Okay, that's better, if it works for everyone else.

We have this growing reluctance of companies to go public. In
practice, that means Canadian companies choose to sell themselves
as a way of generating liquidity for their investors. In many impor‐
tant industries, like technology and pharmaceuticals, selling them‐
selves means selling themselves to a foreign company, usually an
American company.

Our public markets are generally where companies have scaled
up, so I've been very concerned about why companies are refusing
to go public. I think the increasing regulation we impose on compa‐
nies when they go public is the most likely explanation.

Mr. Dan Mazier: Okay. Thank you.

There was an article in the Financial Post on Justin Trudeau's top
economic adviser, Mark Carney, who was forced to retract his false
claims about his company's environmental record. The headline
says, “Mark Carney walks back claim Brookfield has reached net-
zero after criticism”. The article goes on to say, “Backlash from cli‐
mate experts hinged on Carney's use of 'avoided emissions,' in
which a company takes credit for refraining from high-polluting ac‐
tions”.

Can you tell us what happens to ESG investing when companies
greenwash their environmental records?
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Mr. Bryce C. Tingle: There are two possible explanations for
the financial market's poor performance on ESG.

One explanation is that they're just not being given accurate in‐
formation by the companies. Certainly, there are lots of incentives
for companies to put the best face on their ESG performance. I tend
to think fraud is not common, but there's a lot of spin in ESG re‐
porting.

The other reason the financial market has done a poor job is that
the incentives of fund managers are to generate strong relative re‐
turns in their funds. Doing that is where they invest most of their
time and energy. It's not in reading lengthy and complex ESG dis‐
closure, much of which is inadequate because, in order to evaluate
a company's ESG performance, you have to understand the alterna‐
tives strategically, in their markets, to decide whether or not they're
taking the right path for the company. We don't see that level of en‐
gagement in any topic in corporate governance, including straight‐
forward topics like executive compensation or maximizing finan‐
cial returns. Corporate governance generally gets ignored by in‐
vestors, aside from rhetoric.
● (1125)

Mr. Dan Mazier: Would this be considered fraudulent?
The Chair: Answer very briefly.
Mr. Bryce C. Tingle: As I said, the SEC has levied some truly

eye-popping fines against ESG funds that aren't doing what the
marketing material says they do.

The Chair: Thank you.

I'll go to Mr. Longfield.
Mr. Lloyd Longfield (Guelph, Lib.): Thank you, Chair.

Thank you to the witnesses for preparing to be here with your
presentations and taking questions.

I'm going to start with Ms. McGuire.

In financial auditing and requirements around taxonomy, what
words are used to define ESG goals and how the accounting indus‐
try is working internationally to get standards we can audit? Could
you comment on the progress on that, please?

Ms. Rosemary McGuire: You're exactly right. In order to audit,
you need a sound financial or reporting framework to audit against.
That's why these international standards are so critical. The focus
has been on that.

As I said, progress is being made here in Canada to issue our ver‐
sion of those international standards before the end of the year.
There is progress being made with respect to auditing standards for
sustainability assurance engagements, and we expect those stan‐
dards will be published shortly as well.

Mr. Lloyd Longfield: I heard this morning—and I also heard it
in another meeting—that the 17 sustainable development goals of
the United Nations were just marketing fluff.

Could you comment on where those standards are at, in terms of
reaching into the accounting industry?

I was on the public accounts committee. The Auditor General of
Canada, and all auditors general across Canada, are working toward

auditing against the 17 SDGs. Is that something your industry is
working on?

Ms. Rosemary McGuire: I can't speak specifically about that.

The standards I referred to earlier are ones that are solely target‐
ed for the capital markets' use. There is another set of standards that
would be applicable to the engagement you're referring to.

Mr. Lloyd Longfield: Thanks.

I have a final question for you. Then I'm going to Monsieur Ch‐
enet.

I know Canada and Argentina did a lot of work as part of a sub‐
committee of the United Nations. As we develop these standards
internationally, are there implementation goals we are working to‐
ward now? I haven't had an update on that lately.

Ms. Rosemary McGuire: I'm not familiar with that, so I can't
speak about it, unfortunately.

Mr. Lloyd Longfield: Is it fair enough to say that if the stan‐
dards are changing globally, it is a fluid market, so measuring back‐
ward won't be as important as measuring forward?

Ms. Rosemary McGuire: It's interesting, because the interna‐
tional standards I referred to contain quite a bit of forward-looking
information. To your point, it's important to reflect on where you've
been and assess the progress being made. More importantly, we
need to be able to anticipate challenges ahead. It's important to rec‐
ognize the forward-looking aspect of these standards.

Mr. Lloyd Longfield: Thank you.

Monsieur Chenet, you mentioned your work in France. That got
my attention. France has been quite involved with the international
standards.

Could you expand on that a bit? How are we looking at transfer‐
ring some of the lessons you've been learning internationally to the
Canadian market?

Mr. Hugues Chenet: Thanks a lot for your question.

Well, it depends on whether we are talking about regulation in
general, which is now very much pushed at the European level, or
about things that are much more oriented to the financial markets.
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What is very interesting in what happened in France—the story
may be overly simplistic—is that because France was organizing
COP21 in Paris, the idea was that it would be nice to show some
things before setting it up. As the one very crucial ingredient for the
climate diplomacy discussion was the finance part, there was a kind
of a push behind the scenes before COP21 was held to have some‐
thing happen. At the end of the day, six months or three months be‐
fore COP21, we had a law in France, for the first time ever, asking
financial stakeholders in the investment community to communi‐
cate about their climate action. There were a lot of different items.

That was just before COP21, and I think that promoting some‐
thing was very positive for France as a regulator and also for the
Paris Agreement, which was reached at the end of the day. As you
know, one of the three main overarching goals in the agreement is
about finance. There may be a kind of chicken-and-egg issue there,
but it was clearly good. I think that having this incentive under the
spotlight was probably a good thing.

Also, then, what is very important, I think, is that this would nev‐
er have happened if some investors, not necessarily the biggest or
the most well known, and the banks, public and private—public in
terms of government or private on the markets—had not pushed for
it as well. There was a kind of an agreement for that—
● (1130)

Mr. Lloyd Longfield: I think there was a push in the co-opera‐
tives and mutuals as well. I know that Guelph has the Co-operators
head office, and the former CEO of the Co-operators in Guelph was
very involved with the European discussions. It's not just the banks.
It's all financial institutions.

Mr. Hugues Chenet: Yes, but here in France, the major thing
that was maybe under the spotlight was the investor community
through asset management and the very little pension funds we
have here.
[Translation]

The Chair: Thank you.

Ms. Pauzé, you have the floor.
Ms. Monique Pauzé (Repentigny, BQ): Thank you again to all

the witnesses.

Professor Chenet, you have extensive experience in a number of
countries, such as France. You have contributed to a number of
studies at the University of Oxford. I also read that you were a vis‐
iting researcher at the Financial Services Agency in Japan.

Given your extensive experience, can you elaborate on the dam‐
age Canadian banks have caused with respect to Canada's ability to
meet global climate commitments?

Mr. Hugues Chenet: Thank you, Ms. Pauzé.

It's true that I have been able to observe various financial ecosys‐
tems. For the moment, it's not the one in North America that I'm
most familiar with. As far as Canadian banks are concerned, I don't
have a very specific opinion.

What's very visible from the outside is Canada's industrial activi‐
ty, particularly in the area of energy production and fossil fuel re‐
sources. I would imagine that Canadian banks are involved in pro‐

viding financial support for the Canadian economy. Necessarily,
there's quite a strong connection to be made there, and that's the
case in most countries. Even though finance is international and
these companies finance themselves on international markets,
there's still a very strong local connection in financing.

I don't know if that answers your question.

Even though I've been working in finance for 15 years, I tend to
say that it's not so much financial matters, but industrial matters,
that are discussed. To tackle the problem of fossil fuel resources,
we must first have a clear understanding of how these industries
work and really be motivated to get them off fossil fuels. The banks
will follow suit, in a way.

Ms. Monique Pauzé: One bill introduced in the Senate links the
impact of climate change on financial institutions to the impact of
financial institutions on climate change.

Given all that and the competition for global capital in the energy
transition, how do you see the fact that Canada is really a step back
in this area?

● (1135)

Mr. Hugues Chenet: It's a key issue.

In Europe today, it's really central to all discussions. The princi‐
ple of double materiality is being imposed in the progress reports of
businesses, starting with the big ones and, little by little, the smaller
ones. As you said, it's about analyzing the impact of activities on
climate and the impact of climate on activities, and therefore on the
financial performance of businesses and portfolios.

In my opinion, this is really a key issue, because the double ma‐
teriality principle is precisely what will help companies look be‐
yond their solely financial view of performance so that they can say
that, of course, activities must perform well financially to be con‐
tinued, but they must be carried out within the limits of feasibility.
In other words, financial performance must be consistent with the
prerequisite, a functioning biosphere. Otherwise, companies can
turn out products and add value, but that serves no purpose if life is
no longer possible in 10, 20 or 200 years. This raises the question
of the ability to operate within planetary boundaries, to use that
framework. Personally, I think that prerequisite must be estab‐
lished.
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Obviously, if you're the first to jump in the pool when the water
is cold, you look a little silly and you will probably want to get out.
That's more or less what's happening today. Europe is starting to
want to backpedal, because it's very complicated when it comes to
competitiveness. However, we have to be able to say that we're not
talking about five years, but a century and potentially more. It may
hurt and there may be a price to pay in the short term, but if we
don't do it, we're sure to pay a much heavier price in the long term.
Until we accept that, it will be virtually impossible. As a result, to‐
day, those who can afford to make somewhat more radical deci‐
sions about their economy are those who think long term and don't
necessarily have to use market incentives and look at their effects
on stock market performance every quarter.

Ms. Monique Pauzé: What are the risks to the Canadian finan‐
cial system in terms of international competitiveness? We know
that France and the United Kingdom impose an import tax on cer‐
tain products. So Canada's international competitiveness is at risk if
the Canadian financial system doesn't make a move.

Mr. Hugues Chenet: In terms of European economic operators,
if this system is fully implemented and robust, and if we can do
without these imports or, in any case, if it can be included in the
competitiveness mechanisms, that's very good for Europe. So, if
Europe leads markets to certain specific products or if exporters
need Europe to operate, that will trigger an incentive mechanism.
That's the European strategy. It's to set an example and for this ex‐
ample to be repeated. If Europe is the only one doing it and there
are other solutions, it won't work.

The Chair: Thank you. We'll have to stop there.

Ms. Collins, you have the floor.
[English]

Ms. Laurel Collins: Thank you.

Mr. Chenet, you talked a bit about how the financial system real‐
ly hasn't been considering those externalities and hasn't been con‐
sidering the devastating impact that the climate crisis is having on
our society and on markets more generally, and will have in the fu‐
ture.

We've seen many financial institutions in Canada turn away from
their net-zero commitments. Can you speak a little bit about why
this has happened and how, in jurisdictions with stronger financial
regulations in this area, financial institutions might or might not
have been able to meet climate targets?

Mr. Hugues Chenet: Thank you very much, Ms. Collins, for
this question. It's actually, for me, the tipping point.
● (1140)

Today we have financial institutions everywhere on earth in the
global financial markets committing to net zero. It's easy to find
and easy to flag but almost impossible to do it. When financial in‐
stitutions realize they have signed something that is probably too
difficult for them, either they resign so that they are again compli‐
ant with their engagements, or they really have to take strong deci‐
sions.

As of today, as I was mentioning, it's very difficult for global fi‐
nancial institutions to see a very profitable market—for instance,

oil and gas—and then decide not to go there. This is very difficult.
What is almost impossible for them if they're already there is to say
they quit, and have to close down the branch working on that and
fire the employees or organize them differently. This is not a win-
win situation.

We are at a situation that is very interesting, because stakeholders
are no longer looking for a win-win option. I think we are entering
a win-lose option, and we know there will be a cost. We know that
there will be something that will be closed, so we have to organize
this.

Finally, for me, it's much more a societal, policy and political is‐
sue than a pure financial thing. When you have really motivated
banks—and I work with some of them—that are very committed to
trying to go to this net zero, when they realize what it means for
them, then behind the scenes they say that they will never succeed
if the economy is not in alignment to do that. Then it's not a finan‐
cial stake anymore; it's first and foremost an industrial policy thing.

Take the car industry in Europe, for instance. The internal com‐
bustion engines are expected to be forbidden in 2035. It's in the law,
but it can always go back and forth. It's easy for a financial deci‐
sion-maker to say that they won't go to a particular company but to
another because they are going electric. However, if there is not
such a regulation, they will not stop financing car producers that
make cheap internal combustion cars. It would be stupid.

For me, the industrial policy has to be first and foremost, and
then the financial industry has to follow and implement.

Ms. Laurel Collins: You've published the difference between
push and pull, between incentive-based carrots versus more restrict‐
ing policies. You just gave the example of industrial policy that
would shift our economy and would ideally have a profound impact
on emissions reduction. Can you flesh out what some other juris‐
dictions are and how we might learn some lessons from that carrot-
and-stick, push-pull dynamic?

Mr. Hugues Chenet: Yes. Clearly, even if it's a bit sketchy,
when you take a country or a jurisdiction like China, where there is
a kind of alignment between the governmental policies and a lot of
the markets and the industry, it's relatively easy to not distinguish
the two. It may work because not only the central bank, for in‐
stance, but also the industries—the car producers, for instance—
have to be aligned, to a certain extent, to the policy goal, so it's rel‐
atively clear to orient the market in that direction.
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In Europe, for some things like car production, clearly there's a
target that is set up by the European Commission and European
governments, and then the market must follow. There is not much
choice. However, for other stuff, it's much less oriented, so there's a
mix of this pull and push. We would hope that all the signals are
sufficiently aligned so that financial markets would make good de‐
cisions and would align the market with the goal, but it may not
work. It depends.

Ms. Laurel Collins: Do you find, especially in peer countries, in
democratic countries, that there are examples of this kind of indus‐
trial policy that's really having an impact on the financial institu‐
tions and on emissions reduction more broadly?

Mr. Hugues Chenet: Just off the top of my head, I don't have a
very concrete example. However, maybe to couple with your previ‐
ous question, in Japan, for instance, the central bank is providing
support to green banking activities, but it's very much on a volun‐
tary basis. You have a mix of very centralized policy and even
monetary policy decisions, but it's quite open in terms of the way
it's done, because there is no strict rule that this is green and this is
not green.

Thank you.
The Chair: Thank you very much. We'll have to stop there.

We will go now to our second round, which will be three minutes
and one and a half minutes so that we can finish this first panel at
noon.

Mr. Deltell, you have three minutes, please.

[Translation]
Mr. Gérard Deltell (Louis-Saint-Laurent, CPC): Thank you

very much, Mr. Chair.

Thank you to the excellent witnesses we have today.

Professor Chenet, how can a company honestly and accurately
calculate its emissions record and determine that it is carbon-neu‐
tral?
● (1145)

Mr. Hugues Chenet: Thank you, Mr. Deltell.

They can calculate their carbon emissions pretty easily. When it
comes to being carbon-neutral, these are projections. Ms. McGuire
somewhat brought that up. Companies have to look at what they are
going to emit over a period of several years, even decades. So it's a
projection that depends entirely on the choices the company makes,
but also on the choices made by society, both in terms of consump‐
tion, our ability to produce and sell goods, for example, and the ser‐
vices people use, which are typically energy.

We're in a situation where we're very dependent on outside fac‐
tors. So it's very complicated to come up with a precise estimate. It
always depends on a list of conditions.

Mr. Gérard Deltell: However, if a company says today that it is
carbon-neutral, what should it do? As you say, it's very difficult to
calculate. How can a company proudly claim to be carbon-neutral?

Mr. Hugues Chenet: The short answer is that it cannot.

The slightly more complicated answer is that a company must
determine its carbon budget based on a hypothetical global scenario
where emissions and the global carbon budget are distributed in a
certain way among countries and companies. Then, it needs to es‐
tablish a very concrete strategy to determine how it's going to spend
that carbon budget over the next few years, what it's going to invest
in, the activities it's going to undertake and the activities it's going
to stop. Then it has to ask itself how it will optimize its processes
and what new technologies it will use or stop using, for example.

At that point, we're heading toward something precise, but that
implies that we have scaled up a sensible carbon budget. If all the
companies in the world do this but don't agree, we can have only
carbon-neutral companies, but reach a four-degree Celsius increase,
because the carbon budget won't have been used globally.

Mr. Gérard Deltell: We have a world-renowned figure here in
Canada, Mark Carney, who is currently an adviser to the Prime
Minister. He had to backtrack on his claim that the company he ran,
or ran with other people, was net zero.

What do you think of these business leaders who say one thing to
ease their environmental conscience, but who ultimately don't have
one at all?

The Chair: Please answer quickly, Mr. Chenet.

Mr. Hugues Chenet: Simply put, I would say that we have to
encourage people to voluntarily commit to doing certain things,
first of all. Second, in a democracy, it is essential for observers to
check whether people are living up to their commitments.

The Chair: Thank you.

Mrs. Chatel, you have the floor.

Mrs. Sophie Chatel (Pontiac, Lib.): Thank you, Mr. Chair.

I'd like to begin by welcoming all the witnesses and thanking
them for being here with us today.

Mr. Chenet, I'd like to hear your opinion on the global race to a
green economy or a transition economy. According to Bloomberg,
global investments in the economic transition reached a
record $1.67 trillion in 2023, up 17% from the previous year. That
money is being invested in renewable energy, electrified transporta‐
tion, hydrogen and carbon capture technologies. We are in an inter‐
national competition.

Are you seeing the same thing financially? Is there real competi‐
tion among countries to attract these investments?

Mr. Hugues Chenet: Thank you, Mrs. Chatel.
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Yes, my sense is that the green shift is becoming attractive and
that it's working quite well. Financial institutions are talking about
the share of green investments in their portfolios rather than the
light bulbs in their offices. To some extent, it's a competitive and
marketing strategy, which is probably part of the game, and it
works quite well. However, it has to be compared with the harmful
things that are still financed. That is much harder to shed light on.
We can easily have a world full of wind turbines and potentially
very clean renewable energy, yet reach a 4°C increase if we contin‐
ue to use fossil fuels as much as we do. It's just that we'll have a lot
more energy available.
● (1150)

Mrs. Sophie Chatel: To remain competitive, the Canadian econ‐
omy must focus on specific policies. First, we need to stay the
course on a net-zero economy. I think that's one of the factors. Sec‐
ond, we need to provide opportunities for investment in renewable
energy. The government launched green bonds, and carbon pricing
is helping us decarbonize the economy.

Do you think we're on the right track to attract that foreign in‐
vestment?

The Chair: I would ask you to give a very brief answer, Profes‐
sor.

Mr. Hugues Chenet: I'm not an expert on that, but in general, if
we want to limit climate change, all of that will be increasingly sig‐
nificant.

We don't really have a choice. We have to throw everything at it,
but that doesn't mean that if it fails, we'll be—

The Chair: I have to stop you there. Thank you.

Ms. Pauzé, you now have the floor.
Ms. Monique Pauzé: Do I have a minute and a half, Mr. Chair?
The Chair: Yes, that's correct.
Ms. Monique Pauzé: Mr. Chenet, I'd like to ask you some more

questions.

Canadian financial institutions have voluntarily committed to net
zero. Is it the same elsewhere?

Are there any mechanisms to force these institutions to reach net
zero?

Mr. Hugues Chenet: To my knowledge, all of these commit‐
ments are voluntary. I'm not aware of any country where financial
institutions would be forced to reach net zero. That may be an op‐
tion, but as I recall, the institutions are really taking a voluntary ap‐
proach.

That said, where it can be binding is that, once an institution vol‐
untarily commits to a certain target, its stakeholders can say that it
has to meet its commitments. In other words, if it has committed to
it, it is going to have to do it.

Ultimately, European legislation could gradually require people
to reach the objectives they've committed to.

Ms. Monique Pauzé: Do I have a few seconds left, Mr. Chair?
The Chair: You have time for a statement or an observation.

Ms. Monique Pauzé: Actually, I would like Mr. Chenet to ex‐
plain why the banks are underestimating climate-related risks.

Mr. Hugues Chenet: I think they're underestimating them be‐
cause they're trying to calculate them over long time frames using
specific numbers, which they can't do. It's theoretically impossible.

The Chair: Ms. Collins, you now have the floor.

[English]

Ms. Laurel Collins: Thanks so much, Mr. Chenet.

I feel like the financial institutions, but also governments, are
looking at time horizons that are too short when it comes to the im‐
pacts of the climate crisis.

One other thing that concerns me is that we've heard that there is
quite a bit of overlap between the boards of these financial organi‐
zations or institutions and the boards of the largest fossil fuel com‐
panies in Canada.

These oil and gas companies are also under-reporting their emis‐
sions drastically. While a number of those companies are also in‐
vesting in emissions reduction technologies, they're also growing
oil and gas and their mining and exploration and increasing their
emissions.

Do you think there are ways that we can address the issue of the
under-reporting of emissions through some of the climate-aligned
financial regulations that we've been talking about?

Mr. Hugues Chenet: How do I answer this quickly?

In Europe, typically we have seen, for the last 10 years, the ex‐
pectation that the reporting related to these items, such as carbon
emissions, would be more and more precise when under some stan‐
dards, and now they will be audited.

I think it will become more and more difficult to cheat or to pro‐
vide wrong numbers, so I guess the question is—

The Chair: Thank you.

Mr. Leslie, you have three minutes.

Mr. Branden Leslie (Portage—Lisgar, CPC): Thank you, Mr.
Chair.

Mr. Tingle, I'd like to pick up where you left off in talking about
the SEC using fines for fraudulent claims or greenwashing. We've
seen this here in Canada, when Liberal adviser Mark Carney admit‐
ted that Brookfield had “overstated” that their trillion-dollar enter‐
prise was net zero. He certainly had to walk that statement back.

In Canada, what body would actually investigate false claims
like that currently?
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● (1155)

Mr. Bryce C. Tingle: It would be the securities commissions.
Mr. Branden Leslie: Then in Canada, it would be the same sort

of thing.

Have we seen any activities like that undertaken? Have there
been any fines that you're aware of?

Mr. Bryce C. Tingle: No. That's characteristic of a generally
less active enforcement regime in Canada, compared with the Unit‐
ed States, which tends to be much more aggressive.

Mr. Branden Leslie: Do you think greenwashing and making
these sorts of claims for a company, as Mark Carney did, should be
investigated more in Canada?

Mr. Bryce C. Tingle: Yes. The truth is that these investment
funds are sophisticated entities that should be obliged to tell the
truth, the way every other actor in our capital markets is. We
haven't particularly looked into this sort of thing, but there's no
principled reason why we shouldn't.

Mr. Branden Leslie: It seems to me that we should remain skep‐
tical when major companies are making these sorts of claims. In
your opening remarks, you certainly made it clear that, in your
view, these disclosures don't improve outcomes. The scientific and
academic studies back this up.

Is there any way that imposing these sorts of ESG disclosures
can help Canada meet any of its climate obligations?

Mr. Bryce C. Tingle: No. I think the corporate governance
channel is too weak to produce meaningful change. The truth is that
companies, including financial institutions, are embedded in com‐
petitive markets. Those markets constrain their behaviour. They're
not in a position to make lower-return investments in the alterna‐
tives, which is what we ask them to do when we ask them to volun‐
tarily—

Mr. Branden Leslie: You're talking about our pension funds. It
would be putting our pension funds at risk.

Mr. Bryce C. Tingle: I'm talking about every institutional in‐
vestor. They're all subject to the same pressures to improve relative
performance compared with each other. The energy and time they
put into improving the outcomes in one company will raise the val‐
ue of the index they're being marked against, but they tend not to be
involved in firm-specific governance of any kind.

ESG is not unusual in this respect. They just don't do it. When
we look at the way they do ESG investing, we see a similar sort of
lack of attention. They tend to be more focused on picking stocks
and trading them.

The Chair: Thank you.

Mr. van Koeverden is next.
Mr. Adam van Koeverden (Milton, Lib.): Thanks very much,

Mr. Chair.

Thanks to our witnesses for being here.

We've spent much of our time and effort litigating the virtues of
ESG investing. For those watching, those are the environmental,
social and governance standards big companies claim in order to at‐
tract attention and investment.

Unfortunately, we're missing the point a bit. The politicization of
ESG investing in the United States led to a very polarizing series of
headlines. I'll read one from The New York Times: “How Environ‐
mentally Conscious Investing Became a Target of Conservatives:
The business world has been pulled into partisan politics, with Re‐
publicans bringing their battle against socially conscious investing
to Congress”.

For over two years, there was a conversation in the United States
as to whether or not ESG investing is worthwhile. It was my hope
that we could avoid this here on the committee, mostly because this
study isn't supposed to be on whether or not ESG standards are
worthwhile; rather, it's about to what degree companies need to be
honest and truthful if they say they have renewed commitments to
environmentally sound practices or a new governance practice that
ought to be seen as more ethical. That's what disclosure is going to
report on.

Monsieur Chenet, am I mistaken? Are sustainable finance disclo‐
sure and taxonomy about honesty, or more about litigating whether
or not companies ought to be sustainable?

Mr. Hugues Chenet: Thank you, Mr. van Koeverden.

I think it's about everything. The taxonomy is good. To me, it's
the translation of a policy goal that is not in the policy. It's better
than nothing.

It would be clearer to have an industrial policy. Disclosure is for
transparency and honesty, in order to make the markets more effi‐
cient.

The question for me is this: We cannot rely only on markets.
That's why regulation and plans for the economy—“Where do we
want to go?”—are important: They give a signal so that investors
can make good decisions.

Mr. Adam van Koeverden: Thank you, Mr. Chenet.

Mr. Tingle, you pointed out that ESG has been proven to not nec‐
essarily improve standards. Are you hopeful that improved disclo‐
sure standards will improve outcomes? Could you answer in about
20 seconds?

● (1200)

Mr. Bryce C. Tingle: No, they won't. The problem isn't so much
that disclosure is bad; the problem is that the incentives are bad and
the freedom of companies to behave differently doesn't exist. They
have to maximize, so I agree completely with Professor Chenet's
last remarks.

Mr. Adam van Koeverden: Thank you very much to both of
you.
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If I could, Mr. Chair, I've already tabled my motion for a
prestudy of Bill C-73. With my remaining time, I'd like to retable it.
I'm hopeful that we can vote on it quickly so that we can get the
minister here.

I would just say that over the last couple of meetings, the Con‐
servative members have indicated their desire to have the minister
come to committee. I'm hopeful that he can come Wednesday if we
can pass this motion.

The Chair: Thank you to the witnesses. You're free to go. We
have a little bit of committee business. Thank you for contributing
to the discussion.

Do we have the motion in front of us?
Mr. Adam van Koeverden: You should. Everybody should have

the motion before them. I've tabled it twice, actually. I moved the
motion at a previous meeting.

I can read it again, if you'd like.

It is, “That this committee undertake a prestudy on Bill C-73, an
act respecting transparency and accountability in relation to certain
commitments Canada has made under the Convention on Biologi‐
cal Diversity, and that to this end, the committee hold a minimum
of five meetings and invite the Minister of Environment and Envi‐
ronment and Climate Change Canada officials, and that this study
begin within seven days of the adoption of this motion.”

I think there were previously stated amendments. I'd entertain
those now so that we can vote on them and get to our second panel.

The Chair: We have the original motion, and Madame Pauzé, I
believe, has an amendment.
[Translation]

Ms. Pauzé could read it to us.
[English]

However, we first need to vote on whether we want to resume
debate. It's dilatory. Let's just vote on whether we want to rediscuss
this motion. Apparently we have to do that. The faster we do it, the
better. Then we can go to Madame Pauzé's amendment.
[Translation]

Ms. Monique Pauzé: I wanted to move an amendment,
Mr. Chair, so I won't take the floor now.

The Chair: First of all, we have to agree to review the original
motion. If we agree, we will then move on to your amendment.

The question is on the motion.
[English]

(Motion agreed to: yeas 7; nays 4 [See Minutes of Proceedings])
Mr. Adam van Koeverden: I have a point of order, Mr. Chair,

just briefly.
The Chair: Pardon me?
Mr. Adam van Koeverden: No. It's okay. I can do it later.
The Chair: Then go ahead, Ms. Taylor Roy.
Ms. Leah Taylor Roy (Aurora—Oak Ridges—Richmond

Hill, Lib.): I have an amendment to make after Madame Pauzé.

[Translation]

The Chair: Okay.

Ms. Pauzé, can you read us your amendment? It's not very com‐
plicated. I would encourage the committee to deal with this fairly
quickly.

Ms. Pauzé, what is your amendment?

Ms. Monique Pauzé: I heard that the minister was available on
Wednesday, November 6.

In point (a), I'm asking that we invite the officials from Environ‐
ment and Climate Change Canada on November 6 for one hour. I
guess the minister is the one responsible, right, Mr. van Koeverden?

The Chair: I have also been informed that the minister is avail‐
able on Wednesday for the second hour of the meeting. I was going
to invite a panel of witnesses for the first hour of the meeting to fin‐
ish the finance study. Then we could hear from the minister during
the second hour of the meeting to begin the study on Bill C‑73.

All Ms. Pauzé is doing is following through on the idea. We un‐
derstand that what you want is for the minister to come on Novem‐
ber 6.

If it's okay, we don't need to vote on it. I see agreement.

I have a few names on my list, including Mr. Leslie.

● (1205)

[English]

Go ahead, Mr. Leslie.

Mr. Branden Leslie: Thanks, Mr. Chair.

First, could I get some clarification? Did we actually make an
amendment just now?

The Chair: Yes.

Mr. Branden Leslie: What does it say now?

The Chair: I'll read it in English.

The way it will read after the amendment is as follows: “That
this study begin following the completion of the witness testimony
of the study on environment and climate impacts related to the
Canadian financial system.”

Basically, Madame Pauzé wants to finish this study—

Ms. Laurel Collins: I have a point of order, Mr. Chair.

The Chair: —before beginning the prestudy on Bill C-73.

Now, it so happens that after today we have only one hour left on
the finance study. That's what we'll do Wednesday in the first hour.
In the second hour, the minister is free, and he'll come and launch
the prestudy on Bill C-73. It all falls into place—
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Ms. Laurel Collins: I have a point of order, Mr. Chair.
The Chair: —or maybe not.

Go ahead, Madam Collins.
Ms. Laurel Collins: I was not clear that we were voting on an

amendment when you were discussing the timing. I didn't have the
language in front of me. I'm hoping that we can at least go back to
that, because I would have proposed an amendment to the amend‐
ment.

The Chair: Well, we did pass the amendment. If you want to
propose an amendment to the amendment, I think Madam Taylor
Roy is going to—

Ms. Laurel Collins: I'm just curious. Is it because I'm virtual?
Were other people in the room a little confused about the fact that
we were voting on an amendment?

The Chair: No—

Ms. Laurel Collins: That was not clear.
The Chair: —I said, “Are we in favour of the amendment?” Ev‐

erybody.... Well, the Conservatives didn't, but the Liberals nodded
their heads and Madame Pauzé nodded her head.

I mean.... I'm sorry—
Ms. Laurel Collins: I had my hand up and—
The Chair: I'm sorry. I didn't see that.
Mr. Branden Leslie: Can we get the text of the amendment cir‐

culated?
The Chair: I thought the text of the amendment was circulated.

A voice: No.
Ms. Laurel Collins: I don't have the text in front of me.
The Chair: Okay.

Can we circulate the text of the amendment? I guess we'll go
back to....

We're going to roll back a bit. We're going to talk about Madame
Pauzé's amendment.

Mr. Branden Leslie: I have a quick point of order, Mr. Chair.
The Chair: Just a second.

Mr. Leslie, was it on Madame Pauzé's amendment?
Mr. Branden Leslie: It's on all of it. Whenever I can go ahead,

I'll go.
The Chair: Okay. What we're going do—
Mr. Adam van Koeverden: I have a quick point of order, Mr.

Chair.

The Chair: Go ahead, Mr. van Koeverden.

Mr. Adam van Koeverden: First, happy birthday, Mr. Leslie.
Mr. Branden Leslie: Thank you.
Mr. Adam van Koeverden: I also just want to say that at the at

the beginning of the last—

Some hon. members: Oh, oh!

The Chair: Order.

Go ahead.
Mr. Adam van Koeverden: You didn't adjourn, did you?
The Chair: No, but I'm tempted.
Mr. Adam van Koeverden: Happy birthday....

I just want to say that at the beginning of the last two meetings,
the Conservatives made points of order on the hop to ask when
ministers were coming. On Wednesday, we can have a minister
come. That's what the amendment states. We can have the Minister
of the Environment and Climate Change come on Wednesday.

I thought you'd be thrilled.
The Chair: Mr. Leslie, what do you have to say about this?
Mr. Branden Leslie: Okay. I think I understand the amended

version. I think that it is reasonable in general to get the minister,
and I'm glad that we could finally finish Ms. Pauzé's study.

Part of why this is so complicated is that we have a tremendous
amount of work that has been undertaken and is currently being un‐
dertaken by this committee, including having Minister Boissonnault
appear to conclude—

The Chair: I have some news on that. Mr. Boissonnault is avail‐
able. He's going to come, if we want, on December 4.

Mr. Branden Leslie: That's a month from now.
The Chair: Yes. He's coming. That's settled.
Mr. Branden Leslie: Okay. Is that confirmed? Do we have...?
The Chair: That's as confirmed as I think it can be. We have

something in writing from him, yes.
Mr. Dan Mazier: Can we have a short recess?
The Chair: Sure.

● (1205)
_____________________(Pause)_____________________

● (1210)

The Chair: We were with you, Mr. Leslie. Do you still have
more to say on this?

Mr. Branden Leslie: Yes, Mr. Chair.
The Chair: Then we'll go to Ms. Collins, Ms. Taylor Roy and

Mr. Mazier on the amendment.
Mr. Branden Leslie: Are we still on the amended version or on

the amendment?
The Chair: We're debating Madame Pauzé's amendment. You

said you wanted to speak on whatever was on the floor.
Mr. Branden Leslie: Okay. We have not voted on the amend‐

ment yet.
The Chair: We did, but Ms. Collins raised an objection. I under‐

stand it's difficult when you're attending remotely. I'm going back‐
wards to where we were voting on the amendment.

Mr. Branden Leslie: Okay.
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I will say that I appreciate the kind words of Mr. van Koeverden
regarding my birthday, but I wish we could have reserved this topic
for committee business. It's always pointed out to us that it's a more
appropriate time. Unfortunately, we are going to lose the officials
who travelled all the way across the river to get here. I think it is
deeply unfortunate to see that sort of hypocrisy.

I think this is all very confusing, and not only as to what amend‐
ment we're voting on. This committee has so many things on its
plate right now, and juggling....

Obviously, Mr. Chair, you worked tirelessly for years to bring
forward a very robust water study, on which I'm sure the analysts
have been working very diligently. I know there were a lot of wit‐
nesses and testimony to bring together, so I'm sure there's a lot of
work there. I suspect you would like that study to see the light of
day in a published format, but with rumours of a possible proroga‐
tion and potential early carbon tax election, I would hate to see that
report not make it across the finish line and published.

Of course, this isn't the only thing we have. I appreciate the pos‐
sible date of December 4, I believe, for Minister Randy Boisson‐
nault to appear, in order to help us conclude the Jasper fire investi‐
gation. I hope he's spending a lot of time in Jasper talking to folks
there and finding out—as we studied—the factors that led to the
fire that devastated that community and left 2,000 people homeless.
I think we also need to try to ensure we finalize that particular top‐
ic.

We have ongoing letters that need to be sent out regarding the
appearance of five oil and gas CEOs before our committee, and I
think we have another study or two awaiting circulation for us to
review. Then, of course, there's the net-zero accelerator fund chal‐
lenges we are having. My understanding is that we haven't returned
to that issue—
● (1215)

The Chair: I'm sorry. I will interrupt.

We're going to be discussing that on November 18. Regardless of
whether this motion passes or not, we're going to look at the net-
zero accelerator on November 18.

Mr. Branden Leslie: Okay. That is good to hear. I suspect we'll
also be looking at the environment commissioner's report that we
anticipate will—

Mr. Dan Mazier: I have a point of order.
The Chair: Go ahead, Mr. Mazier.
Mr. Dan Mazier: Where did we end up with the deputy minis‐

ter?
The Chair: We're going to have a delegate from the deputy min‐

ister. The deputy minister will not be here. We talked about that.
Mr. Dan Mazier: Can they answer the questions about how

many emissions are actually targeted—all the answers that the
deputy minister refused to give us the first time?

The Chair: The deputy minister is seconding his.... I'm not sure
about the individual's title, but there will be somebody there stand‐
ing in for the deputy minister. Actually, I was going to bring that
up. I'm glad you brought it up, Mr. Mazier.

Does the committee wish to receive the commissioner on the
20th?

I'm seeing nodding on the right side.

Madame Collins, would you like to see the commissioner on the
20th? Yes.

What about on the left side here?

Okay, we're going to invite the commissioner on the 20th. I have
dealt with those two things—Minister Boissonnault coming on De‐
cember 4 and the commissioner on the 20th.

Go ahead, Mr. Leslie.
Mr. Branden Leslie: Maybe this is committee business. It cer‐

tainly sounds like that. We're hashing these details out on the fly.
Again, it's odd that we're doing this in public with witnesses in the
room, but that was the prerogative of the member raising the issue.

We have another study raised by my colleague in the NDP on a
challenging issue regarding Fort Chipewyan and a dock there.

The Chair: Yes. We're waiting to hear back from the transport
committee. I'm hoping it will be tomorrow.

Mr. Branden Leslie: We have many things on the go in this
committee right now, and I think we are—

Ms. Laurel Collins: I have a point of order, Mr. Chair.
The Chair: Ms. Collins has a point of order.
Ms. Laurel Collins: I'm sorry to interrupt, Mr. Leslie.

I want to clarify that our motion was very explicit: If we don't
hear back from the transport committee within a week with an affir‐
mative, we would proceed as if we're having the study.

At this point, Mr. Chair, the committee has directed you to pro‐
ceed as if we are conducting the study on the contamination in Fort
Chipewyan.

The Chair: Let me have a little pause and check with the clerk
on that.
● (1220)

Ms. Collins, you're right. There was a deadline of the 28th. I'll
report back on that at some point, but right now, we're back to Mr.
Leslie and we're debating the amendment.

An hon. member: Are we on the amendment?
Mr. Branden Leslie: We're all finding out together.
Ms. Leah Taylor Roy: Chair, I have a point of order.

I'm sorry, but I don't understand. If we're debating the amend‐
ment, I don't understand the relevance to the amendment of what
Mr. Leslie is saying.

The Chair: Mr. Leslie, can you focus on the amendment?
Mr. Branden Leslie: Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Could I add my name to the list on the main motion? I will pick
up on these many important points at that point, but I will make
one—
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Mr. Adam van Koeverden: On a point of order, Mr. Chair, my
colleagues have pointed out that we have witnesses in the room and
my colleagues have said that they're in favour of the motion. We
could vote, we could finish the meeting and we could hear testimo‐
ny.

The Chair: I have a speaking list, unfortunately, and I have to go
through it. My hands are tied.

We'll put Mr. Leslie on the list for the main—
[Translation]

Ms. Monique Pauzé: I have a point of order, Mr. Chair.
The Chair: Yes, Ms. Pauzé.
Ms. Monique Pauzé: We want the Minister of Environment and

Climate Change to appear for one hour on November 6. That said, I
can't believe how much time we are wasting. Since the minister is
coming anyway, there's no need for the amendment, is there?

Mr. Leslie has said a number of times that witnesses are here to
discuss sustainable finance, but we seem to want to postpone all
that. We won't finish our sustainable finance study on Wednesday
because of the time we're wasting right now.

The Chair: It will be up to the committee to decide. However,
you're right.

The problem is that if we don't adopt this motion, the minister
won't appear. In other words, we are inviting the minister through
the motion. If we don't adopt the motion, Wednesday is up in the air
and we don't know when we'll be able to invite him.
[English]

Can I see the original motion, unamended?
[Translation]

In the transcript of the meeting, it says that the minister is pre‐
pared to appear on Bill C‑73 on Wednesday. Everyone seems to
agree on that. If the amendment is withdrawn and we adopt the mo‐
tion, we'll get the desired result.

Ms. Monique Pauzé: That's correct.

I withdraw my amendment, Mr. Chair.
The Chair: Okay, that's great.
Ms. Monique Pauzé: The members of the Conservative Party

keep saying that they want to hear from the minister in committee.
He could be here on Wednesday, but we're wasting time.

The Chair: Since Ms. Pauzé withdrew her amendment, we are
back to the motion.
[English]

Ms. Collins, do you want to speak to the original motion? Are
you on the amendment or the original motion?

Ms. Leah Taylor Roy: I have another amendment to put for‐
ward—

Ms. Laurel Collins: I was hoping to speak to both.
Mr. Branden Leslie: Did I lose the floor because it was with‐

drawn?
The Chair: Okay, I had Ms. Collins. Give me just a second.

Ms. Collins, what did you want to talk about?
Ms. Laurel Collins: I was hoping to speak to both the amend‐

ment and—
The Chair: Well, the amendment's gone, so we'll put you on the

list for the original motion.

Ms. Taylor Roy, do you want to speak to the original motion and
propose an amendment?

Mr. Mazier, do you want to speak to something?

You do, and it's the original motion. Okay.
Mr. Branden Leslie: I have a point of order, Mr. Chair.

● (1225)

The Chair: Yes, Mr. Leslie, we're going back to you, because on
the original motion, you're next.

Ms. Leah Taylor Roy: No. I was next.
The Chair: Is this an amendment to Madame Pauzé's amend‐

ment?
Ms. Leah Taylor Roy: No, it's on the motion. I was not on that

list to speak. I was making an amendment to the main motion.
The Chair: You were on the list, but I thought you wanted to

speak to the amendment.
Ms. Leah Taylor Roy: No. I said I had an amendment.
The Chair: Okay. Go ahead, and then we'll go back to Mr.

Leslie.
Ms. Leah Taylor Roy: Thank you.

The simple amendment I—
Mr. Dan Mazier: I have a point of order—
The Chair: No. You see, he was talking about the subamend‐

ment, and we're done with the subamendment. We're going to get
back to Mr. Leslie after Ms. Taylor Roy.

Go ahead, Ms. Taylor Roy.
Mr. Dan Mazier: I think that's not correct. I have a point of or‐

der—
Ms. Leah Taylor Roy: Thank you, Mr. Chair.

I just wanted to suggest that—
The Chair: Just a second, Ms. Taylor Roy. Mr. Mazier has a

point of order.
Mr. Dan Mazier: Can you please clarify with Mr. Leslie? I'm

sure—
The Chair: Yes. Mr. Leslie is going to speak to the motion.
Mr. Dan Mazier: Can you please just ask him?

An hon. member: It's okay.
The Chair: Ms. Taylor Roy wanted to speak on the main mo‐

tion. Later on, Mr. Leslie, who was speaking on the amendment,
said he wanted to speak on the main motion, so I'm putting him af‐
ter Ms. Taylor Roy.
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Mr. Branden Leslie: Could I just, on a point of order, get some
clarity first? It's not about the speaking list.

Given that we are at 1:30, more or less, and we're going to run
out of resources, does this hour with officials that has not happened
count toward the count of Ms. Pauzé?

The Chair: No, it doesn't. We'll have to have another hour added
on somewhere in this study.

A voice: It's 12:30.
Mr. Branden Leslie: I'm sorry. The clock says 1:30. It hasn't

been changed yet.
The Chair: That's right.

This second panel panel there, I think—
Mr. Branden Leslie: We're not voting, bud.

Then Madame Pauzé's study will be further delayed—
The Chair: After Wednesday, there will be an hour left on

Madame Pauzé's study.
Mr. Branden Leslie: With officials—
The Chair: It's with officials.
Mr. Branden Leslie: —because this will be their first time ap‐

pearing on that study.
Ms. Leah Taylor Roy: This isn't a point of order, Mr. Chair. I'm

next up on the speaking list.
Mr. Branden Leslie: I'm just looking for clarity—
The Chair: It's a point of clarification—
Mr. Branden Leslie: We're in committee business now—
The Chair: —so that's where we're headed.

We'll go to Ms. Taylor Roy and then Mr. Leslie.
Ms. Leah Taylor Roy: Thank you.

The subamendment I'd like to make—
The Chair: It's an amendment.
Ms. Leah Taylor Roy: Yes, it's an amendment.

If Madame Pauzé has withdrawn hers, then I'd like to amend it to
say, “That this study begin the first meeting following the adoption
of this motion”, because if the minister is here next week to talk
about this issue, we need to start this study on Wednesday.

My amendment just says, “That this study begin the first meeting
following the adoption of this motion” rather than “within seven
days”.

The Chair: That's what we were intending to do anyway. We
can make that amendment.

Ms. Leah Taylor Roy: I just wanted it to be clear this is what
we're doing, as opposed to “seven days”.

The Chair: Okay.

How do we feel about Madam Taylor Roy's amendment? This is
what we're going to do anyway, so do we need to have a vote? Do
we agree?

Ms. Laurel Collins: Mr. Chair—

The Chair: Is it on division?
Ms. Laurel Collins: Mr. Chair—
The Chair: Do you want to speak to Ms. Taylor Roy's amend‐

ment?
Ms. Laurel Collins: I do.
The Chair: Go ahead.
Ms. Laurel Collins: Mr. Chair, I'd like to do a subamendment, I

guess.

I've only heard Madam Taylor Roy's amendment verbally, but the
intention behind my subamendment would be to say that we start
the first session of this study on Wednesday and that the timing of
the rest of the prestudy be determined at the next subcommittee
meeting. That way we do not have to spend the next hour debating
what is happening.

My big concern is that we not push the study on contamination in
Fort Chipewyan back even further. I would really love it if we
could maybe get behind the idea of having one session of this
prestudy start on Wednesday, when we have the minister here. Then
we can determine the timing of the rest of the prestudy at the next
subcommittee meeting.

The Chair: Okay, but what I think, though, is that the 18th is al‐
ready spoken for. The 20th is spoken for. The committee has agreed
that on the 18th we'll do the net-zero accelerator. On the 20th we
have the commissioner.

What's the meeting after the 20th...?

I would suggest that we should finish this one hour that's left on
the finance study. We should do that on the 25th. Maybe we can do
an hour of committee business after that, on the 25th. Scheduling a
subcommittee meeting basically kills a committee meeting. We
have to use the same time slot, essentially.

What I would suggest, which I think would respond to your
wishes, is that on the 25th we have the officials back, if they're
available, from ECCC and finance, for the hour that they can't do
today. In the second hour of that meeting, we can do committee
business in camera.

● (1230)

Ms. Laurel Collins: Mr. Chair, could we tack on an extra hour
to one of our meetings? That way we won't lose an hour.

Mr. Dan Mazier: Hang on. Can we just—
The Chair: That's what I'm proposing.

Can we vote that this is what we do?

Some hon. members: Yes.
Mr. Dan Mazier: Hang on. I want to talk about—
Ms. Laurel Collins: Mr. Chair, I think we had an amendment,

and then I just did a subamendment. Are you proposing another
amendment—

The Chair: Well, are there any more speakers?
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Mr. Dan Mazier: I want to speak to Laurel's—
The Chair: Okay, go ahead.

I will let the witnesses go, but we'll be back in touch with an al‐
ternative date.

Thank you.
Mr. Dan Mazier: If I understand, Ms. Collins, all you were talk‐

ing about was bringing the minister in for one hour this Wednesday,
and then that way we haven't lost a slot and we haven't lost an op‐
portunity to talk to the minister. Then we could decide what we're
going to do after that and continue as usual.

I think that was a very reasonable approach and I would support
that approach .

The Chair: No, that's not exactly what she was saying. She was
saying that—

Mr. Dan Mazier: She was nodding her head the whole time.
The Chair: No, but.... Okay, can I clarify it? Basically—
Ms. Laurel Collins: Mr. Chair—
The Chair: Just a second, Ms. Collins.

Basically, Ms. Collins was saying to go ahead with one hour of
the finance study on Wednesday, followed by the minister on Bill
C-73, and then we would hold a subcommittee meeting to discuss
the timing of Ms. Collins' study.

What I'm saying is that if we do that, I think the issue of Wednes‐
day is settled. We're all in agreement, so I don't know why we're de‐
bating Wednesday. I think what we're debating now is whether we
have a subcommittee meeting in lieu of one of our regular meet‐
ings, and then that subcommittee meeting would not be able to be
held until November 25, because we've already agreed on what
we're doing on the 18th and the 20th.

Therefore, what I'm suggesting is that on the 25th, we could fin‐
ish that one hour we have left on the finance study with the wit‐
nesses that we had to just let go, and we could then go in camera
for the second hour, do committee business and talk about Ms.
Collins' study.

If you want to make that a two-hour committee business meet‐
ing, then we can do that as well, but that takes us up to two o'clock
on a Monday. We could do that, and we may get committee busi‐
ness done in half an hour, so it may all be moot in the end.

That's the issue we're talking about. It's whether we have a sub‐
committee meeting on, say, November 25, or whether we have our
witnesses back for one hour and then do one hour of future busi‐
ness, in camera, on the 25th. That's where we are.

Ms. Collins, what are you suggesting?
Ms. Laurel Collins: Mr. Chair, I just have a point of clarifica‐

tion.

My subamendment to the amendment was that we determine the
timing of this prestudy on Bill C-73 at the next subcommittee meet‐
ing. It wasn't determining when that subcommittee meeting would
be. I would actually suggest that we don't have it in lieu of one of
our public meeting times but that we add an extra hour to one of

our sessions or that we have it on another day. I would leave that to
the discretion of the chair.

We have the minister on the Wednesday, as you said—

The Chair: That launches the prestudy.

Ms. Laurel Collins: My subamendment is proposing that we
build into this motion that the study would launch for one day, and
then the rest of the study would be determined at the next subcom‐
mittee meeting, as we normally would do with any of these things
and as the Liberals could have done at the last full committee meet‐
ing—

The Chair: Do we have Ms. Taylor Roy's amendment to the mo‐
tion in writing? Can we get that?

Ms. Leah Taylor Roy: Sure. I can give it to you.

Mr. Branden Leslie: Could we have all of it circulated to us in
writing?

The Chair: We have the original motion.

Mr. Branden Leslie: No, I understand that, but there are two—

The Chair: Ms. Taylor Roy is—

Mr. Branden Leslie: It should be in both official languages, too.

The Chair: —going to send us her amendment to the original
motion.

Mr. Dan Mazier: Then we need Ms. Collins' too.

The Chair: Once we get Ms. Taylor Roy's amendment, then Ms.
Collins will have to write a subamendment.

Let's just pause for a few minutes.

Thank you.

● (1230)
_____________________(Pause)_____________________

● (1240)

The Chair: Thank you.

Colleagues, you have Ms. Taylor Roy's amendment in front of
you and on your screens. The amendment basically changes the
motion to read “That this study begin the first meeting following
the adoption of this motion”.

Ms. Taylor Roy, do you have any more to say about that?

Ms. Leah Taylor Roy: Yes. When it was sent over, there was an
“s” added—“That this study begin the first meetings”. It should be
“meeting”.

Thank you.
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The Chair: Yes, that's a typo. Okay, thank you.

Ms. Collins, do you have a subamendment?
Ms. Laurel Collins: I do.

It is that it read, “That the first hour of this study”, so the added
words are the four words “the first hour of” between “That” and
“this”. It would read, “That the first hour of this study begin the
first meeting following the adoption of this motion,” and then my—

The Chair: Could you go a little slower, please? Can I see what
you're sending?

Okay, we're going to send this around electronically so that we
can all see it. It should be coming any minute now.

Has everyone received it? Apparently there's an edit, so it'll take
a few extra minutes.

Ms. Laurel Collins: Okay. Maybe I'll quickly reply to the
whole....

The Chair: That's the original amendment. What's the edit? Is it
“and that the timing of the remaining meetings...be determined”?
That's not the most recent that has to be edited, is it?

Let's pause for a second.
● (1240)

_____________________(Pause)_____________________

● (1245)

The Chair: Okay, we're back.

We have Ms. Collins.
[Translation]

It should be at the bottom of the page.

I'll read you paragraph (b) as proposed by Ms. Collins:
[English]

“That the first hour of this study begin the first meeting follow‐
ing the adoption of this motion, and the timing of the remaining
meetings of this pre-study be determined at the next subcommittee
meeting.”

Ms. Collins, would you like to speak to this?
Ms. Laurel Collins: In general, I want to highlight.... Maybe I'll

just start by realizing that my subamendment has the typo from the
original amendment. We need to edit “meetings” and put it as the
singular.

With regard to the amendment itself and the importance of doing
a prestudy on Bill C-73, it is a really important bill that we want to
tackle and it is important when we're thinking about biodiversity
and accountability. We want to make sure that we have the minister
come this Wednesday, which everyone's in agreement with.

As this is clearly a conversation that's going to take a little while,
normally we would schedule another study from the list of studies
that we need to do at a subcommittee meeting so that we wouldn't
take up witness time. This is a way for us to make sure that this
conversation can happen.

My big priority is to make sure that we honour the wishes of the
nations that have asked Parliament to look at the contamination in
Fort Chipewyan. I want to make sure that the remaining meetings
of this prestudy don't displace that and allow the current govern‐
ment to avoid accountability on the contamination and the lack of
transparency and communication to those nations in Fort
Chipewyan.

I also want to make sure that we get to this prestudy on Bill
C-73. It is critical. I'm hoping that this is a way that we can have
the whole committee come together, pass this motion today and
then move on with the business at hand.

● (1250)

The Chair: Is there anyone else to speak on the subamendment?

Go ahead, Mr. Leslie.

Mr. Branden Leslie: Thank you, Mr. Chair.

I think it is a reasonable amendment from my colleague. I hope
we can find a solution to further amending it to deal with, as I men‐
tioned earlier, the many issues that are pressing to this committee
and the work that has been undertaken so that we do not have this
study push back our agenda until, more or less, the spring.

We may risk losing all of the reports and all of the work. I even
forgot earlier about the caribou study and the letter that we'll be
sending there. We have a lot of things on the table. In order to try to
help clean that up.... As well, you outlined some of the more recent
news that we've received about the tentative schedule for the meet‐
ing with the environment commissioner and an apparent appear‐
ance from Minister Boissonnault. I would like to clarify that we do
have Minister Boissonnault coming here.

I'd like to subamend the subamendment by adding after—

Mr. Dan Mazier: Mr. Chair—

Mr. Branden Leslie: —the “adoption of this motion”, “but none
shall commence until the committee has heard from Minister Bois‐
sonnault in relation to the study of the factors leading to the recent
fires in Jasper National Park”, which I think is—

The Chair: When you say “none”, what are you referring to?

Ms. Laurel Collins: I have a point of order, Mr. Chair.

The Chair: Go ahead, Ms. Collins. Is it really a point of order?

Ms. Laurel Collins: It is.

We have an amendment from Ms. Taylor Roy. I have a suba‐
mendment to that amendment. I don't think that, procedurally, we're
allowed to have a subamendment to a subamendment.

I'm very much interested in hearing what Mr. Leslie has to say,
but I think that we might have to deal with this subamendment be‐
fore we move on to another.
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The Chair: That's a good question. Let me clarify.

We're going to pause while we double-check that.

Thank you.
● (1250)

_____________________(Pause)_____________________

● (1255)

The Chair: Ms. Collins, you were right on this.

We're going to have to deal with Ms. Taylor Roy's subamend‐
ment first, but Mr. Leslie wants to speak to the amendment. He's
not proposing something now. He can't do that right now, but he
still wants to speak to Ms. Collins' subamendment.

Mr. Branden Leslie: I did, but it was to move my subamend‐
ment. However, we're not allowed to. I don't know if my colleagues
have anything to add on this specific subamendment.

The Chair: We're going to have to deal with this. Can we vote
on Ms. Collins' subamendment? I have no one else to speak to it.

Let's have a vote on Ms. Collins' subamendment, which we just
read before. It's that “the timing of the remaining meetings of this
pre-study be determined at the next subcommittee meeting.” That's
what we're voting on.
[Translation]

Mrs. Sophie Chatel: I'd like clarification on what we're voting
on right now.

The Chair: We're voting on Ms. Collins' subamendment, which
adds the following: “, and the timing of the remaining meetings of
this pre-study be determined at the next steering committee meet‐
ing.”

Let's vote.

(Subamendment agreed to)
[English]

The Chair: It passes, so we go back to the original motion as
amended.

I have a list of Mr. Leslie, Ms. Collins, Ms. Taylor Roy and Mr.
Mazier. This is on the main motion as amended.

Go ahead, Mr. Leslie.
Ms. Leah Taylor Roy: I have a point of order.

We just voted on the subamendment, didn't we?

A voice: Yes.

Ms. Leah Taylor Roy: Don't we have to vote on the amendment
now?

A voice: Sure.
The Chair: No, there's no subamendment. It's an amendment.

We weren't allowed to do a subamendment.
Ms. Leah Taylor Roy: Ms. Collins had a subamendment to my

amendment. We voted on the subamendment. We haven't voted on
the amendment yet.

The Chair: You're right. I apologize, Ms. Taylor Roy.

Can we vote on—

A voice: No.

Ms. Laurel Collins: Could we ask for unanimous consent, if
there's—

The Chair: Wait a second.

Ms. Taylor Roy's amendment has been subamended. We're vot‐
ing on Ms. Taylor Roy's amendment.

Mr. Branden Leslie: We're speaking on it.

The Chair: You're right. We're speaking on it.

Who wants to speak on it?

I have Mr. Leslie, Mr. Mazier, Mr. Deltell and Ms. Collins.

Mr. Leslie, go ahead on Ms. Taylor Roy's amendment as suba‐
mended.

Mr. Branden Leslie: This is complex stuff. I'm trying to wrap
my head around where the amendment is at this point.

All of that said, as I outlined previously, we have many things we
need to accomplish. I think a subcommittee, frankly, is a good idea,
and having that included in the amended version by Ms. Collins.
Obviously, we have many things to sort out in a forward-looking
calendar, for the rest of this year, and with the possible inclusion of
this prestudy, well into next year.

Having all of those reports delayed would be quite unfortunate,
particularly due to the devastating nature of the wildfire in Jasper
National Park, the rebuild and cleanup necessary there and the
work Minister Boissonnault has been tapped to do by the Prime
Minister. I hope he is looking into the many factors that led up to
that devastating fire and the risk that still remains in Jasper. I think
it's very timely for the people of the region and the province—

Mr. Adam van Koeverden: I have a point of order, Mr. Chair.

Are we going to stay on topic here, or are we going to filibuster
on something we just all agreed to?

The Chair: Try to stay on topic. We don't have a lot of time left.

Mr. Branden Leslie: I will try to be brief. I will move a suba‐
mendment to the amendment.

Mr. Dan Mazier: Chair, I'd like to speak about this.

Mr. Adam van Koeverden: I have a point of order, Mr. Chair.

The Chair: Wait a second.

You have a point of order, Mr. van Koeverden.
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Mr. Adam van Koeverden: Yes, I have to point out that the
Conservatives are putting in jeopardy having the minister here on
Wednesday with this filibuster.
● (1300)

The Chair: That's not a point of order, but it's true.

Voices: Oh, oh!

The Chair: Mr. Leslie, go ahead with your subamendment.
Mr. Branden Leslie: Absolutely, I want to see the minister here

to answer for—

Voices: Oh, oh!
The Chair: If this doesn't stop, it's not going to happen.
Mr. Branden Leslie: I also think it's important for the people of

Jasper and Parks Canada to fully understand what happened with
that fire.

Voices: Oh, oh!

A voice: Did you do a full review in Jasper?

Mr. Branden Leslie: Did I do a photo op in Jasper?

A voice: A full review....

Mr. Branden Leslie: A full review.... I'm sorry.
The Chair: Okay, everybody.

Go ahead, Mr. Leslie. You have the floor.
Mr. Branden Leslie: I would like to move a subamendment to

the proposed amended motion that would add, at the end of it, as
amended, “but none shall commence until the committee has heard
from Minister Boissonnault in relation to the study of the factors
leading to the recent fires in Jasper National Park.”

The Chair: Can you put that in writing and send it to the clerk?
Mr. Branden Leslie: I can do that. I did that already.

No, I have a handwritten version here. If you can read it, that
would be lucky.

The Chair: I think we're going to have to see it in writing, be‐
cause it's getting a little complicated.

Mr. Dan Mazier: Should there be a short recess after—
The Chair: Yes, there will be, until we get the amendment in

writing.

For now, the meeting is adjourned.
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questioning the proceedings of the House of Commons in
courts or otherwise. The House of Commons retains the right
and privilege to find users in contempt of Parliament if a re‐
production or use is not in accordance with this permission.

La présente permission ne porte pas atteinte aux privilèges,
pouvoirs, immunités et droits de la Chambre et de ses
comités. Il est entendu que cette permission ne touche pas
l’interdiction de contester ou de mettre en cause les délibéra‐
tions de la Chambre devant les tribunaux ou autrement. La
Chambre conserve le droit et le privilège de déclarer l’utilisa‐
teur coupable d’outrage au Parlement lorsque la reproduc‐
tion ou l’utilisation n’est pas conforme à la présente permis‐
sion.

Also available on the House of Commons website at the
following address: https://www.ourcommons.ca

Aussi disponible sur le site Web de la Chambre des
communes à l’adresse suivante :

https://www.noscommunes.ca


